IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

2

1

3

4 5

> 6 7

8

10 11

12

13 14

15 16

17

18

19 20

21

22 23

24

HRISTOPHER R. ORAM

520 South Fourth Street, Second Floor

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101

. A.: 11 a

Appellant,

VS.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

MARK R. ZANA.

Respondent.

S.C. CASE NO. 50786

FILED

JUN, 3 0 2008

CLERK OF SUPPEME COURT

EX. DEPUTY CLERK

APPEAL FROM JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT THE HONORABLE JACKIE GLASS, PRESIDING

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

CHRISTOPHER R. ORAM, ESQ. Attorney at Law

Nevada Bar No. 004349

520 S. Fourth Street, 2nd Floor

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101

Telephone: (702) 384-5563

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

•		
2	I.	THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED WHEN IT PERMITTED TESTIMONY AND
3		FACTS TO BE CONSIDERED BY THE TRIAL JURY AFTER A
		PENNSYLVANIA COURT AND HENDERSON JUSTICE COURT HAD SEALED/EXPUNGED RECORDS.
4		SEALED/EAT UNGED RECORDS.
5	II.	MR. ZANA IS ENTITLED TO A NEW TRIAL BASED UPON THE
6		INTRODUCTION OF INADMISSIBLE EVIDENCE OF OTHER CRIMES.
	the state of the s	WRONGS, OR ACTS.
7	III.	THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED WHEN IT FAILED TO PRECLUDE THE
8	:	STATE FROM INTRODUCING IMPROPER IMPLIED PREJUDICIAL BAD
9		ACTS.
10	IV.	THE DISTRICT COURT SHOULD HAVE GRANTED MR. ZANA'S MOTION
10		FOR A NEW TRIAL.
11	V.	THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED WHEN IT PERMITTED HEARSAY
12	V •	EVIDENCE CONCERNING THE RECOUNTING OF ALLEGED ABUSE BY
13		THE ALLEGED VICTIM'S MOTHER AND GRANDMOTHER IN VIOLATION
		OF THE FIFTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED
14		STATES CONSTITUTION.
15	VI.	THE DISTRICT COURT COMMITTED ERROR WHEN IT FAILED TO
16		SUPPRESS IMAGES OBTAINED OR SEIZED FROM MR. ZANA'S
17		COMPUTER IN VIOLATION OF THE FOURTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION. THE
17		DISTRICT COURT COMMITTED ERROR WHEN IT FAILED TO HOLD A
18	,	FRANKS HEARING.
19	VII.	THE DISTRICT COURT COMMITTED ERROR WHEN IT FAILED TO
20	V 11.	GRANT THE DEFENSES MOTION FOR SEVERANCE OF THE ALLEGED
		CHILD PORNOGRAPHY COUNTS FROM THE ALLEGED SEXUAL
21		MISCONDUCT COUNTS.
22	VIII.	THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO CONVICT MR. ZANA OF
23		POSSESSION OF PORNOGRAPHY DEPICTING A CHILD UNDER SIXTEEN.
24	TV	THE DISTRICT COURT SHOULD HAVE DISMISSED COUNTS V TUDII VVI
4	IX.	THE DISTRICT COURT SHOULD HAVE DISMISSED COUNTS X THRU XXI BASED UPON IMPROPER PLEADING AND NOTICE IN VIOLATION OF
25		THE FIFTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES
26		CONSTITUTION.
27	X.	THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED WHEN IT PERMITTED SEVERAL
	130	INSTANCES OF HEARSAY EVIDENCE IN VIOLATION OF THE FIFTH AND
28		FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

XI. MR. ZANA'S CONVICTIONS MUST BE REVERSED BASED UPON A CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF THE ERRORS DURING TRIAL.

CHRISTOPHER R. ORAM 520 South Fourth Street, Second Floor Las Vegas, Nevada 89101

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 30, 2005, an Information was filed (A.A. Vol. I, pp. 001-009). On
August 6, 2007, Mr. Zana's trial began and concluded on August 13, 2007. (A.A. Vol. VIII, pp.
1865-1864). On August 13, 2007, the jury returned guilty and not guilty verdicts (A.A. Vol. I,
pp. 1864). On October 8, 2007, Mr. Zana filed a Motion for New Trial (A.A. Vol. II, pp. 466-
476). On December 20, 2007, Mr. Zana was sentenced to Count I; Open and Gross Lewdness;
twelve months in the Clark County Detention Center; Count II; Life in the Nevada Department
of Corrections with the Possibility of Parole after a minimum term of ten (10) years have been
served concurrent with Count I; Count VI, Life in the Nevada Department of Corrections with
the Possibility of Parole after a minimum term of ten (10) years have been served consecutive
with Count II. Count VII, Life in the Nevada Department of Corrections with the Possibility of
Parole after a minimum term of ten (10) years have been served concurrent with Count VI;
Count XI, Life in the Nevada Department of Corrections with the Possibility of Parole after a
minimum term of ten (10) years have been served consecutive with Count VI. Count XIII, a
minimum of twelve (12) months and a maximum term of thirty six (36) months in the Nevada
Department of Corrections Consecutive to with Count XI. Count XIV a minimum of twelve
(12) months and a maximum term of thirty six (36) months in the Nevada Department of
Corrections Concurrent to with Count XIII. Count XV, a minimum of twelve (12) months and
a maximum term of thirty six (36) months in the Nevada Department of Corrections Concurrent
to with Count XIV. Count XVI a minimum of twelve (12) months and a maximum term of
thirty six (36) months in the Nevada Department of Corrections concurrent to with Count XV.
Count XVII a minimum of twelve (12) months and a maximum term of thirty six (36) months
in the Nevada Department of Corrections concurrent to with Count XVI (A.A. Vol. VIII, pp.
1868-1869).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Pennsylvania Incident- 1992

In 1992, Christina Butler was 13 years old and living in Pennsylvania (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1095-1097). Christina's boyfriend, Buddy, was taking gymnastics lessons from Mark Zana (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1097-1098). In 1992, Mark Zana was 25 years old at the time (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1098).

On August 8th, 1992, Christina went with her boyfriend to Mark Zana's residence to go swimming (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1099-100). Ms. Butler asked to go swimming, but her mother denied her permission (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1100). Although her mother was sleeping at one in the afternoon, Ms. Butler snuck out of the home and went to Mr. Zana's residence (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1100). At Mr. Zana's residence, another young man was present, but Ms. Butler did not remember his name (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1103). At the residence, Christina's boyfriend pushed her in the pool even though she was wearing street clothing (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1104). Thereafter, Mr. Zana provided her a change of clothing (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1106).

At some point, Mr. Zana, Ms. Butler and her boyfriend were in one of the bedrooms. Ms. Butler claims that Mr. Zana playfully held her on the bed and then lifted her shirt up and touched her breasts (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1107). Allegedly, this was in the presence of her boyfriend (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1106).

After coming out of the bedroom, Ms. Butler noticed Brian Zana, Mark's brother, and a young lady (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1108). (This fact was contradicted by Brian Zana's testimony at the evidentiary hearing. Mr. Brian Zana testified that Mark Zana was never away from him during the relevant time period and he was not with a woman on that day). Thereafter, Mark Zana drove Ms. Butler home (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1109). Shortly after, Ms. Butler told her friend Craig about the incident (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1110). Ms. Butler went to meet her friend Craig the

next day but was met by police officers who interviewed her regarding this incident (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1111-1112).

Later, Ms. Butler's friend, Curt Larrick, notified her regarding the allegations against Mr. Zana in Clark County (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1113). Ms. Butler then provided a statement to Henderson Detective Rod Pena (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1113).

Brian Zana the defendant's brother, works for the Department of Parole and Probation,
Las Vegas, Nevada (A.A. Vol. VII, pp. 1547). In 1992, Brian was attending the University of
Pittsburgh (A.A. Vol. VII, pp. 1548). Brian was at his parents home during the alleged
incident described by Christina Butler (A.A. Vol. VII, pp. 1549). Brian remembers that
Christina came to the house with two boys and that everyone was swimming. Brian was not in
the company of any female companions on that date. Christina came to the house after Brian
was already there (A.A. Vol. VII, pp. 1551). Brian remembers that Mark was never alone with
Christina Butler at the residence (A.A. Vol. VII, pp. 1552). Brian relayed this information to a
Deputy District Attorney when this allegation surfaced in 1992 (A.A. Vol. VII, pp. 1552).
Both boys who were with Christina Butler also attended court on behalf of Mark Zana (A.A.
Vol. VII, pp. 1553).

The Jillian Lozano Incident-1998.

In 1998, Ms. Jillian Lozano would go to Mr. Zana's classroom after school instead of going to safekey (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1130-1134). Mr. Zana asked Ms. Lozano if she wanted a candy out of a jar and then placed it in his pocket (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1134). Ms. Lozano placed her hand in Mr. Zana's pocket to obtain a Jolly Rancher candy and felt his penis (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1135). At the time, in second grade, Ms. Lozano did not know what his "penis" was (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1135). She just got one piece of candy (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1136).

At dinner, Ms. Lozano's grandmother asked why she was not hungry and she responded

1

2

3

5

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

she had eaten candy earlier in the day (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1137). After dinner, Ms. Lozano remembered a detective came by and asked her questions about how she obtained the candy from Mr. Zana's pocket.

Although there were other students in the classroom, Ms. Lozano claimed they were not near the teacher's desk and the other students were "just grading papers" (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1134). Ms. Lozano admitted there were more than 10 children in the classroom when she allegedly reached into Mr. Zana's pocket. Ms. Lozano admitted she had difficulty remembering whether it was his right or left pocket when she spoke to the police (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1142-1144). Ms. Lozano put her right hand to Mr. Zana's right pocket while he was sitting in a chair (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1144). Ms. Lozano does not remember telling her grandmother or father that she actually had five pieces of candy (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1146).

CURRENT ALLEGATIONS

Mrs. Ann Marcovecchio is the mother of Melissa who was a fifth grade student of Mr. Zana in 2004 (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1213). At the end of her fifth grade year, Melissa and her family moved from Henderson, Nevada to Colorado (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1213). According to Mrs. Marcovecchio, Mr. Zana had a good reputation as a school teacher (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1215). Mrs. Marchovecchio admitted that her daughter did not relay the information regarding this incident from the time they left Nevada in 2004 until she was in Colorado in September of 2005 (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1229).

Melissa Marchovecchio was in Mr. Zana's fifth grade class at Kestersan School (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1243). Mrs. Marchovecchio described how Mr. Zana was a very popular teacher. After fifth grade, she left and attended sixth grade in Colorado.

In September 2005, Mrs. Marchovecchio informed her friend Hugo that her fifth grade teacher had made inappropriate contact with her. Melissa told Hugo about the incident. She

also told him about an incident when her father became angry with her because there were three boys in her house that were not permitted to be there (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1246). Melissa remembers telling Hugo that he should tell her mother what occurred between her and Mr. Zana (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1251). Melissa relayed that Mr. Zana approached her from behind and placed his hand on her breast area (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1259-1260). This lasted approximately 15 seconds. Mr. Zana then allegedly walked away as if nothing had happened. Melissa did not tell anyone this had occurred until more than a year later (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1261).

Melissa remembered that Mr. Zana would touch other students, tickling their back or putting his finger along their arms (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1266). Melissa also witnessed other students place their hand into Mr. Zana's pocket. These students included Iris Camacho and Summer Dano (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1267).

On another occasion, Mr. Zana allegedly put his hands down Melissa's shirt during "reading group time" (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1268). After moving to Colorado, Melissa would continue to talk to her friend Danielle Dunn and Iris Camacho (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1271).

Approximately one month prior to Melissa's revelation, she had a conversation with Danielle Dunn regarding rumors of Mr. Zana being a child molester (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1272). Hence, from the time Melissa left Las Vegas until the time she had the conversation about rumors regarding Mr. Zana being a child molester, she had never revealed to anyone she had been inappropriately touched by Mr. Zana (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1273). Melissa also admitted she did not believe Mr. Zana was a child molester or that he had done anything wrong to children (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1273). Melissa said Mr. Zana always had a rule that there were always two or more students present at the after school program (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1285). Melissa also admitted that after the first incident she continued to go to his after school program instead of safe key (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1286). Even after the first touching, Melissa admitted she would try

to sit as close to Mr. Zana as possible (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1287).

Melissa admitted there were seven to ten students near by when she was allegedly touched by Mr. Zana. In fact, the other students would be sitting in a semi circle during reading class and nothing would obscure their vision (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1288-1290).

Melissa never reached into Mr. Zana's pocket to get a Jolly Rancher. Although she said Mr. Zana would hand out Jolly Ranchers as a reward (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1293). One student attempted to put her hand in Mr. Zana's pocket to grab a hold of his chapstick and Mr. Zana said "stop" (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1294). Melissa stated that Mr. Zana actually pulled Iris' hand away and said "stop" (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1301). At the last day of school, Melissa wrote "Mr. Zana is the coolest teacher. You know it." (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1303).

Lauren Judd was a fifth grade student in Mr. Zana's class at Kesterson Elementary School (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1306). Lauren got candy from Mr. Zana's pocket. Lauren also witnessed other students obtain candy from Mr. Zana's pocket (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1312). Lauren could not tell who the other students were who reached into the pocket (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1312). Lauren stated she wasn't sure how many times she reached into his pocket. While reaching in his pocket, Lauren felt a cell phone (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1312-1313).

During reading time, Lauren recalled that Mr. Zana would touch her on her upper arms and collar bone area (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1318). Lauren never told an adult about this. Lauren only told her friend Edith (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1319). Lauren admitted that prior to the police interviewing her, there had been a lot of discussion about allegations made against Mr. Zana (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1326).

Lauren admitted that Mr. Zana was very popular (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1327). In fact, Lauren would sometimes approach Mr. Zana and hug him (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1327). Other students also hugged him (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1327). Mr. Zana always had five or ten kids

surrounding him due to his popularity (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1328). Lauren never felt Mr. Zana's "private parts" (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1329). Lauren continued to help Mr. Zana in class even after 5th grade finished (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1331). She obtained her parents permission to do this (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1331). Lauren was not afraid of Mr. Zana (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1332).

At the time of trial, Amber Newcomb was 17 years old (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1341).

Amber's fifth grade teacher was Mr. Zana (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1343). Amber remembers Mr.

Zana tickled her on the side of her face (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1345). During the summer, Amber would help Mr. Zana in the classroom (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1346). While helping during the summer, Mr. Zana allegedly touched her breasts on the outside of her blouse (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1347-1348). At first he was tickling her and then he grabbed her breasts (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1348).

In September/October of 2005, Amber learned of the accusations against Mr. Zana by watching the news (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1351). Amber and her mom discussed going to the police after seeing the news accounts (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1351). Both Amber and her mother had believed the incident was simply an accident (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1354). Amber never observed anyone reaching into Mr. Zana's pocket to obtain Jolly Ranchers (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1354). Mr. Zana kept a dish of Jolly Ranchers on his desk (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1357). Jade Daniels was present during this incident. Amber believed Jade did not see what had occurred (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1355). In fact, Jade confirmed to Amber that she did not observe anything happen (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1355). Amber said Mr. Zana was a good school teacher (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1355). Mr. Zana was very nice to the students (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1356). Amber and Lauren Judd were in the same fifth grade class (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1352).

Jill Lattuca is the mother of Alexia Mair (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1095-1097). Alexia Mair was 16 at the time of her trial testimony (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1363). Mr. Zana was Ms. Mair's

1

2

3

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

fifth grade teacher (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1378). Ms. Mair described Mr. Zana as a very good teacher (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1095-1097). Alexia said Mr. Zana would hand out Jolly Ranchers during reading time as a reward for good behavior and paying attention (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1383). Alexia reached into Mr. Zana's pocket to obtain a Jolly Rancher and felt his penis (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1385). This occurred on one occasion (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1385). Alexia also claimed Mr. Zana would touch her face and place his fingers in her mouth (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1386).

Alexia did not report this to anyone until her freshman year at Foot Hill High School when the police approached her (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1388). She did not tell the police about reaching into Mr. Zana's pocket to get a Jolly Rancher claiming she was "nervous and scared". (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1389). Alexia further stated, "... I trusted him and I didn't want to believe that what happened...". Alexia believed it was an "accident" (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1389). Alexia failed to tell the police about her claim that Mr. Zana placed fingers in her mouth (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1389). However, Alexia then told her mother about these incidents and they went to the police (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1392).

Alexia told the police that a bunch of jealous boys had made up these rumors regarding Mr. Zana (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1395-1396). Alexia also admitted when she spoke to the police the second time, she said she was swinging her hands around and she grabbed Mr. Zana's hand and put his fingers in her mouth (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1399). Yet, at trial, she changed this to reflect that Mr. Zana placed his fingers in her mouth (A.A. Vol. VI, pp. 1399).

Iris Camacho attended Mr. Zana's fifth grade class at Kesterson Elementary School (A.A. Vol. VII, pp. 1432). Iris claimed Mr. Zana took a coin out of his pocket placing it on her head and then she would place the coin back in his pocket (A.A. Vol. VII, pp. 1437). This occurred a couple of times and Iris claimed to feel Mr. Zana's "private parts" during reading

time (A.A. Vol. VII, pp. 1439). Mr. Zana would allegedly touch the legs and arms of Iris (A.A. Vol. VII, pp. 1440-1441). Iris did not tell anyone including her parents about these allegations (A.A. Vol. VII, pp. 1445-1446). In fact, Iris failed to tell the police this information the first two times she talked to them (A.A. Vol. VII, pp. 1450). Iris admitted that she had observed interviews regarding Mr. Zana on televison before she revealed her allegations to the police during her third interview (A.A. Vol. VII, pp. 1454-1455).

Iris was friends with Melissa Marcovecchio, Danielle Dunn, Shannon Lattuca and Alexia Mair (A.A. Vol. VII, pp. 1456). Iris also spoke to several of her friends between her first and second interview with the police and her last interview where she revealed the allegations (A.A. Vol. VII, pp. 1460). Iris claims she failed to tell the police because she did not remember (A.A. Vol. VII, pp. 1460-1461). After her discussion with Shannon Lattuca, Iris remembered the coin incident (A.A. Vol. VII, pp. 1462). Iris admitted she enjoyed Mr. Zana (A.A. Vol. VII, pp. 1457).

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