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

28 conclusion, without any expert testimony. When the children shown in pornographic images are of a very young age, as they were in some of the charged counts in this case, there is no need for expert testimony.

I:\APPELLATE\WPDOCS\SECRETARY\BRIEFS\ANSWER\ZANA, MARK 50786.DOC

average lay person. NRS 50.275; <u>Yamaha Motor Co. v.</u> Arnoult, 114 Nev. 233, 243, 955 P.2d 661 (1998). The State provided testimony from Dr. Zbiegien to assist the jury in their fact finding duties. Dr. Zbiegien was clearly qualified to offer an expert opinion and thus his testimony was properly admitted.

5 The State's expert witness did not produce a report before trial. The State was not 6 provided a report from the defense's expert witness. 8AA 1570. The State did provide the 7 Defendant with a copy of the witness's CV before trial. 8AA 1569. The State's expert, Dr. Michael Zbiegien, was highly qualified to render an expert opinion on the age of the girls in 8 9 the child pornography. Dr. Zbiegien is the medical director of emergency services at Sunrise 10 Children's Hospital. Dr. Zbiegien completed a three year Pediatrics residency at the University of Medicine and Dentistry at New Jersey in Camden, after which he completed a 11 12 two year Pediatric Emergency Fellowship at Children's Hospital in Detroit, Michigan. 8AA 13 1572. Dr. Zbiegien is also the director of SCAN, or Suspected Child Abuse and Neglect 14 Program at Sunrise Children's Hospital. Dr. Zbiegien helps instruct the Pediatric residents from the Nevada medical school as well as the medical students from the University of 15 16 Nevada. 8AA 1573. During the course of Dr. Zbiegien's practice he routinely has occasion 17 to view and be in a position to see young, minor children. 8AA 1574.

The Defendant incorrectly asserts that "This was the first time the doctor had testified
in any case with this type of content." Appellant's Brief, pg. 60. This statement is clearly
belied by the record because Dr. Zbiegien *has* testified in these types of cases before. Mr.
Pitaro asked Dr. Zbiegien:

22 23

24

25

26

27

1

2

3

4

- Q: Then I take it that you've never come in and testified as to the age of an individual portrayed in an adult video clip or photo?
- A: I don't understand your question?
- Q: Well, I guess when you said you've never looked at these before, this was the first time you've seen a video clip such as these, is that correct?

A: No, I've testified in these kinds of cases before, sir.

8AA 1596 (emphasis added). Furthermore, without citation, Defendant alleges that "The
 State's expert witness admitted the only real way to determine a person's age is by knowing
 their date of birth." Appellant's Brief, pg. 61. This is a mischaracterization of Dr.
 Zbiegien's testimony. The State can only assume that the Defendant is referring to the
 following questioning by Mr. Pitaro on cross examination of Dr. Zbiegien:

- Q: Now, when you were giving your opinion, you were not giving opinion as to chronological age, were you?
- A: No, sir.

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

- Q: You weren't saying that this person is a chronological age at all?
- A: I was giving an opinion that based on the age of the patient or the people seen in the video. Yes, sir.
- Q: Okay. Is there any scientific study that you consulted before you came to Court that gave you what the range would be, so that you could render this opinion?
 - A: No, sir. It was based on my experience.

16 8AA 1597. The State is not required to prove the chronological age of the children in the 17 child pornography. The State is only required to prove that the children in the child 18 pornography are under the age of 16. NRS 200.700, 200.730. The jury is given the role of 19 deciding whether or not the child depicted in the child pornography is under the age of 16. 20 The jury is not required to determine the chronological age of the child depicted in the child 21 pornography. Dr. Zbiegien provided expert testimony that was based on his medical 22 expertise and the jury properly considered it when making their determination. Dr. 23 Zbiegien's testimony was fair and he even testified that he believed some images were not 24 sharp enough for him to render an opinion as to the child's age. 8AA 1880. Dr. Zbiegien 25 also testified that, in his opinion, a child depicted in one image was over the age of 16. AA 26 1583.

Clearly, if a 4 year old was visually presented in an image that depicted sexual conduct then the jury would be able to convict the Defendant under NRS 200.700 and 200.730. Similarly, here the jury was presented with images of a child clearly under the age of 16 and the jury properly convicted the Defendant for possession of those images. The images of child pornography and the testimony from the State's witness were more than sufficient to support the jury's findings.

IX

THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS COUNTS X THROUGH XXI

On the eve of trial, while the Defendant was making an oral motion for the first time to sever the child pornography charges from the lewdness charges, all parties realized for the first time that the wording of the Information was inaccurate. 4AA 684.

The State charged Mr. Zana under NRS 200.730 with Possession of visual presentation depicting sexual conduct of person under 16 years of age. On the State's original Information the State listed the charges as "Possession of visual presentation depicting sexual conduct of a child (Category B Felony – NRS 200.700, 200.730). At all points of the criminal proceeding, Defendant Zana was aware of exactly what statute he was being charged under and what the State would have to prove at trial.

In the instant case, the District Court granted the State's motion to amend the Information before trial. 4AA 693. (RA 12). The Defendant unsuccessfully moved to dismiss the mislabeled counts. 5AA 1087. The grant or denial of a motion to dismiss is reviewed on appeal for abuse of discretion. <u>State v. Hancock</u>, 114 Nev. 161, 955 P.2d 183 (1998). An information or indictment may be amended at anytime if no additional or different offense is charged and no substantial rights are prejudiced. NRS 173.095.

23

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

24

1. The court may permit an indictment or information to be amended at any time before verdict or finding if no additional or different offense is charged and if substantial rights of the defendant are not prejudiced.

25 NRS 173.095(1).

Pre-trial complaints about lack of notice can be remedied by the State and so the State should be given leave to amend. This is because there is no prejudice to the defendant in such a case. <u>State v. Hancock</u>, 114 Nev. 161, 955 P.2d 183 (1998). In this case, the amendment did not prejudice the Defendant at all because the amendment actually made it harder for the State to prove its case. Instead of simply having to prove that a minor was depicted, after the amendment the State then had to prove that a person *under the age of 16* was depicted.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

22

23

24

Indeed, amendments on a pre-trial basis are generally recognized as the appropriate remedy for lack of notice allegations. <u>State v. District Court</u>, 116, Nev. 374, 997 P.2d 126 (2000). This is especially true when the defense has had notice of the charges or theory of the case and only the specifics of the notice have been challenged. <u>Shannon v. State</u>, 105 Nev. 782, 783 P.2d 942 (1989)(amendment permitted to allege different facts in support of same charge). However, in this case the District Court actually made a finding that Mr. Zana was on notice of the elements of the charges against him. 4AA 685.

Based on a plain reading of the Counts contained in the information, and a reading of the transcripts from all of the hearings before the start of trial, a reasonable person of common understanding would have been fully aware of what the State needed to prove at the time of trial. In fact, the Defendant, through his attorneys, articulated the elements of the crime on several instances at the preliminary hearing. Mr. Zana's attorney mentioned that the State would have to prove that the image depicted a 16 year old on at least three separate occasions at the preliminary hearing. 1AA 189-90, 193.

Within the charging documents the State cited NRS 200.730 as the charge that Mr.
Zana was facing. Therefore, the elements of the charge were in the charging document via
reference to the statute. 200.730 states:

"A person who knowingly and willfully has in his possession for any purpose any film, photograph or other visual presentation depicting a person under the age of 16 years as the subject of a sexual portraval or engaging in or simulating, or assisting others to engage in or simulate, sexual conduct."

Defendant's reliance on <u>State v. Handcock</u>, 114 Nev. 161, 955 P.2d 183 (1998) is wholly
misplaced. Hancock involved a deficiency in the charging document that impermissibly
allowed the State to change its theory of prosecution or allege that the defendants in that case
had used different means to accomplish their respective offenses. <u>Id</u>. In contrast, the State's

46 ,

theory of prosecution in this case has remained consistent from Information through conviction. As such, <u>Hancock</u> has no application to the current facts. The appropriate remedy was to permit the State to amend the Information, not to dismiss the charges as the Defendant alleges.

Х

THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY ALLOWED ADMISSIBLE TESTIMONY INTO EVIDENCE

Defendant alleges that multiple hearsay violations occurred at trial. However, Defendant's contentions are without merit.

Hearsay is an out-of-court statement offered at trial to prove the truth of the matter asserted, and is inadmissible unless it falls within one of the recognized exceptions to the hearsay exclusionary rule. NRS 51.035, 51.065. In addition, in a criminal trial, the statement of a non-testifying hearsay declarant is only admissible under the Confrontation Clause if it bears adequate "indicia of reliability." <u>Ohio v. Roberts</u>, 448 U.S. 56, 66-67, 100 S.Ct. 2531, 2539-40 (1980)(overruled on other grounds).

Both hearsay and Confrontation Clause errors are subject to harmless error analysis.
See Power v. State, 102 Nev. 381, 382, 724 P.2d 211, 213 (1986) (citing Chapman v.
California, 386 U.S. 18, 87 S.Ct. 824, (1967)) (Confrontation Clause); Deutscher v. State, 95
Nev. 669, 683, 601 P.2d 407, 418 (1979) (hearsay).

20

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

A. Ms. Jill Lattuca's Alleged Hearsay Statements

Defendant alleges that the State introduced two of Ms. Lattuca's out of court statements which constituted impermissible hearsay. However, Defendant's contentions fail. Defendant first complains that the district court erred in allowing Ms. Lattuca's statement describing a conversation with her daughter wherein her daughter was describing what other students said regarding Mr. Zana. This statement was not objected to at trial and therefore Mr. Zana is precluded from appellate consideration on this issue. The alleged hearsay statement was:

Ms. Lattuca: She told me in the car the detective had talked to her during school, and called her in, and that some of the kids, were saying that Mr. Zana was – had been inappropriate with them.

6AA 1366. Mr. Zana alleges that this statement was objected to at trial. Appellant's Brief, pg. 63. That allegation is belied by the record because defense counsel *did not* object to this statement at trial. 6AA 1366. Defense counsel objected only to a *later* question by the State. That later question was:

Q: Okay, and what, if anything, did you say to Alexia in response to that?

A: Well, she –

MR. PITARO: Your honor, that's hearsay.

6AA 1366. Mr. Pitaro was clearly objecting to the question about Alexia's response and not to any of the witness's previous answers. Id. Failure to object at trial precludes appellate consideration. <u>Cutler v. State</u>, 93 Nev. 329, 337, 566 P.2d 809, 814 (1977); <u>McCall v. State</u>, 91 Nev. 556, 557 540 P.2d 95 (1975); <u>Clark v. State</u>, 89 Nev. 392, 393, 513 P.2d 1224 (1973); <u>State v. Foquette</u>, 67 Nev. 505, 524, 221 P.2d 404 (1950). As such, Defendant is not entitled to relief.

Defendant next complains that the witness was allowed to testify, over the defense's objection, to what the witness had said to her daughter. After the District Court overruled the Defendant's objection, the witness gave the alleged hearsay statement. 6AA 1366-67.

The District Court did not give a reason for overruling this particular objection made by the Defendant. However, in response to a later hearsay objection the District Court stated that it found the witness's statements to be especially reliable because the witness had made them herself and because the witness was available for cross examination. 6AA 1371. Therefore, despite the Defendant's assertion (Appellant's Brief, pg. 64) there is no Crawford confrontation clause issue with the witness's testimony. Furthermore, this statement was not offered for the truth of the matter asserted. Instead, it was offered to explain how the matter was investigated and show that Ms. Lattuca and her daughter were not motivated to lie.

B. Ms. Ann Marcovecchio's Alleged Hearsay Statements

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

Defendant next complains that Mrs. Marcovecchio was permitted to testify that she had received a phone call from Hugo Aguirre stating that Melissa was upset because her fifth grade teacher had touched her. 6AA 1216. Appellant's Brief, pg. 64. The Defendant admits "That this was not objected to" at trial. Id. Failure to object at trial precludes appellate consideration. <u>Cutler v. State</u>, 93 Nev. 329, 337, 566 P.2d 809, 814 (1977). As such, Defendant is not entitled to relief. Furthermore, the witness was not offering this statement to prove the truth of the matter asserted, namely, that her fifth grade teacher had touched her, rather the statement was given to explain what prompted the police investigation.

Defendant next complains that during direct examination of Ann Marchovecchio, she was permitted to testify that Mr. Zana had given his email address out to students and been emailing with them. 6AA 1222. Appellant's Brief, pg. 65. The District Court overruled the Defendant's hearsay objection because the testimony was not offered for the truth of the matter asserted. 6AA 1222. The testimony was offered not to prove that the Defendant emailed and communicated with his students online, rather it was offered to prove that the victims' accusations against the Defendant were motivated by more than the negative media coverage. Therefore, Defendant's argument is without merit.

XI

THERE WAS NO CUMULATIVE ERROR

This Court has held that under the doctrine of cumulative error, "although individual 20 errors may be harmless, the cumulative effect of multiple errors may deprive a defendant of 21 the constitutional right to a fair trial." Pertgen v. State, 110 Nev. 554, 566, 875 P.2d 361, 22 368 (1994)(citing Sipsas v. State, 102 Nev. 119, 716 P.2d 231 (1986); see also Big Pond v. 23 State, 101 Nev. 1, 3, 692 P.2d 1288, 1289 (1985). The relevant factors to consider in 24 determining "whether error is harmless or prejudicial include whether 'the issue of 25 innocence or guilt is close, the quantity and character of the error, and the gravity of the 26 crime charged." Big Pond, 101 Nev. at 3, 692 P.2d at 1289. The doctrine of cumulative 27 error "requires that numerous errors be committed, not merely alleged." People v. Rivers, 28

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